1982

# State of Utah v. Woodrow Willie John : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction for Attempted Rape, a Third Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-5-402 (1953 as amended), in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup, Judge, presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant, Woodrow Willie John, was charged in an Information with Attempted Rape, a Third Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-5-402 (1953 as amended), and with Forcible Sexual Abuse, a Third Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §76-5-404 (1953 as amended). On the 15th day of October, 1981, the appellant was convicted by a jury of Attempted Rape. On the 26th day of October, 1981, the appellant was sentenced to incarceration in the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term not to exceed five years.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant, Woodrow Willie John, seeks to have the judgment entered against him vacated, or reversed and remanded to the Third Judicial District Court for a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At approximately 4:00 p.m. on July 9, 1981, Ruth Robinson was getting into her car in a parking lot near 200 West South Temple, Salt Lake City, Utah, when she was accosted by an individual who slid into the car with her. The individual made sexual advances on Mrs. Robinson, until he was interrupted by a young man walking through the parking lot who saw and heard the struggle going on in the car. The young man watched as the assailant exited the car and walked away, while Mrs. Robinson locked the doors and windows, started the car, and began pulling away in such a frenzied state that she almost had an accident. The young man stopped Mrs. Robinson, then asked two other individuals in the parking lot to summon the police, which they did.

(T. 9-17, 52-55)

Later that evening, Mrs. Robinson was driven to the St. Mark's Half-Way House by a police officer. The appellant was brought out of the facility by a police officer, where Mrs. Robinson could see him. She could not make a positive identification, so the officer took her to within 4 or 5 feet of the appellant. She was still uncertain, and asked that the appellant say something. When the appellant used the word "lady", as had Mrs. Robinson's

assailant, she said she was sure this was the person. (T. 26-28, 90-91) Defense counsel moved to strike the in court identification of the appellant by Mrs. Robinson because it was tainted by the prior suggestive show-up. The motion was denied. (T. 101, 105)

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO STRIKE THE IDENTIFICATION TESTIMONY OF RUTH ROBINSON.

The United States Supreme Court recognized in Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed. 2d 401 (1972), the unreliability of unduly suggestive eyewitness identification procedures. The court indicated five factors important in assessing the likelihood of misidentification:

The opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness' degree of attention, the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. 409 U.S. at 199

The authorities agree that eyewitness identification is a highly unreliable source of evidence at best,<sup>1</sup> and

---

1. See Buckhout, "Eyewitness Testimony", 231 Scientific American 23 (1974); Buckhout, "Psychology and Eyewitness Testimony", 2 Law and Psych. Rev. 75 (1976); Doob & Kirshenbaum, "Bias in Police Line-ups--Partial Remembering", 1 J. of Police Science and Admin. 287 (1973), Loftus, "Reconstructing Memory: The Incredible Eyewitness", 15 Jurimetrics J. 188 (1975); Murray "The Criminal Line-Up at Home and Abroad", Utah 1, Rev. 610 (1966) n.2.

subsequent studies have shown that the reliability of eyewitness identification is poor even where all five of the Neil v. Biggers factors are optimal.<sup>2</sup> But in the present case, two of the five factors would indicate a high unreliability of Mrs. Robinson's identification of the appellant as her assailant. The five factors as applied to the present case are as follows:

1. Mrs. Robinson's opportunity to observe her assailant was very good, because she was with him for several minutes in broad daylight at a close proximity.

2. Mrs. Robinson's degree of attention to her assailant would have been very high, since the incident involved an attack on her person.

3. Mrs. Robinson's description of her assailant was a poor match with the appellant. She described her assailant as 250-300 pounds, more than 100 pounds heavier than the appellant's weight; she said her assailant was wearing a red T-shirt, while the appellant was found wearing a flannel shirt a short time later, and no evidence was introduced that the appellant even owned a red T-shirt; and Mrs. Robinson remembered her assailant

---

2. See Uelman, "Testing the Assumptions of Neil v. Biggers: An Experiment in Eyewitness Identification", 16 Crim. Law Bulletin 358 (1980).

as wearing his hair differently than did the appellant. (T. 26, 44)

4. Mrs. Robinson was not at all certain as to her identification even after she viewed the appellant from a few feet away in a one-on-one show-up.

5. The time elapsed between the event and the identification was only a matter of hours.

It can be seen that, under the Neil v. Biggers analysis set forth by the United States Supreme Court, the present identification was very weak on two of five points. Furthermore, the identification was made under the most suggestive of circumstances possible-- the witness was shown a person already in the custody of the police and, knowing him to be the only suspect in the case, could only make a very tentative initial identification, until the person happened to say the word "lady", a very common means of addressing adult females.

The Utah Supreme Court has expressed its own concern with suggestive identification procedures. In State v. Ervin, 22 Utah 2d 216, 451 P.2d 372 (Utah 1969), the court stated:

We are in accord with the idea that a line-up should be neither so devised nor manipulated as to impel or to be unduly suggestive as to identification. Ideally it should be regarded as having a dual purpose. On the one hand: to help in searching out and identifying those guilty of crime. On the other, the equally important corollary: to protect those who are suspected of crime but who are innocent. To best serve both purposes the procedure should be handled with caution not to place blame on the innocent, and yet not so laden with difficulties nor burdened with super-cautions as to make it impractical as a method of identifying the guilty.

451 P.2d at 374-75

And finally, in an apparent effort to serve the "dual purpose" of the line-up procedure, the Legislature drafted Chapter 8 of the Utah Code of Criminal Procedure in 1980, outlining the circumstances and procedures for conducting line-ups. An arrested suspect may be required by a peace officer to appear in a line-up -- otherwise, a magistrate's order is required upon a finding of probable cause.<sup>3</sup> Section 77-8-2 assures the suspect of the right to have counsel present at the line-up, and Section 77-8-4 requires the entire procedure to be recorded, allowing the suspect access to such records. And, perhaps most importantly in the present case, Section 77-8-3 forbids peace officers from "attempt[ing] to influence the identification of any particular suspect."

None of the statutory requirements of Chapter 8 were followed in the present instance. The appellant was not arrested and in custody at the time of the show-up, nor had any magistrate's order issued. No counsel was present, the appellant had no opportunity to procure counsel, nor was he even made aware of any such right. No record was made of the proceedings. And finally, the entire purpose of bringing Mrs. Robinson to the St. Mark's facility was to get her to confirm the officer's choice of the appellant as her assailant. The police literally pointed out the man they wanted Mrs. Robinson to identify.

---

3. Utah Code Ann. §77-8-1 (1953 as amended)

The requirements of Chapter 8 are clear, and the failure to comply with them in the present instance is equally clear. The opportunity to comply with Chapter 8 was also present -- there were no special or exigent circumstances requiring an immediate identification.

If compliance with Chapter 8 is not required in the present instance, it is difficult to imagine a circumstance where the police could not circumvent Chapter 8 in the same manner as in the case at bar. Whenever the police wished to conduct a suggestive show-up, avoiding the admittedly more burdensome but more reliable Chapter 8 procedure, they could merely bring the purported eyewitness along when they make the arrest, and have the witness "identify" the individual before the arrest is made. Such a reading of Chapter 8 would make its provisions meaningless, and effective only as a suggestion -- i.e., the police may comply with Chapter 8 only if they so choose.

Since the police chose not to comply with Chapter 8 in the case at bar, and have shown no exigency requiring non-compliance, the appellant's motion to strike the identification testimony of Mrs. Robinson was improperly denied by the trial court. The lower court's decision should be reversed.

## POINT II

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT.

The evidence presented by the State was insufficient to support the verdict rendered. The standard for reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence was stated by this Court in State v. Mills, 530 P.2d 1272, 1272 (Utah 1975):

For a defendant to prevail upon a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain his conviction, it must appear that viewing the evidence and all inferences that may reasonably be drawn therefrom, in the light most favorable to the verdict of the jury, reasonable minds could not believe him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. To set aside a verdict it must appear that the evidence was so inconclusive or unsatisfactory that reasonable minds acting fairly must have entertained reasonable doubt that defendant committed the crime.

Applying this standard to the present case, the identification of the appellant by Mrs. Robinson was "so inconclusive [and] unsatisfactory that reasonable minds . . . must have entertained reasonable doubt" as to whether or not the appellant was Mrs. Robinson's assailant.

The inherent unreliability of eyewitness testimony must be taken into consideration. Reasonable persons do not unduly rely on unreliable evidence. The fact that Mrs. Robinson's testimony failed to comply with two of the five Neil v. Biggers criteria adds to its unreliability.

The failure of Mrs. Robinson's description of her assailant to match the physical size of the appellant, together with her uncertainty as to her visual identification of the appellant, her undue reliance on the appellant's use of the word "lady", and the complete absence of physical evidence identifying the

appellant as the assailant, all would lead a reasonable juror to entertain reasonable doubts as to the identification. For this reason the conviction should be vacated.

#### CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in refusing to strike Ruth Robinson's identification testimony, because of the use of unnecessarily suggestive identification procedures by the police, in violation of the appellant's due process rights under the Constitution and in violation of Chapter 8 of the Utah Code of Criminal Procedure. Furthermore, the eyewitness identification of the appellant by Ruth Robinson was so fraught with unreliability and uncertainty that a reasonable juror could not have found the appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. The case should be reversed and remanded for a new trial.