1982

# State of Utah v. Woodrow Willie John : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO FOLLOW PROPER PROCEDURES FOR OBJECTING TO RUTH ROBINSON'S IDENTIFICATION TESTIMONY PRECLUDES CONSIDERATION ON APPEAL OF HIS ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR RESPECTING THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO STRIKE THAT TESTIMONY; ALTERNATIVELY, THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO STRIKE THAT TESTIMONY.

---

Ms. Robinson became certain that appellant was her assailant. Ms. Robinson's testimony and that of Nolan Barraclough, a Salt Lake City police officer present at the Diagnostic Center at the time of the meeting, appear to be somewhat inconsistent on this point. However, whether Ms. Robinson positively identified appellant before or after she heard him say "lady" is not critical (Appellant's Brief makes light of the possibility that Ms. Robinson was unable to make a positive identification until after appellant uttered the word "lady"). The important fact is that she positively identified appellant at the Diagnostic Center.

Relying on Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972), and a number of law journal articles which purportedly establish the highly unreliable nature of eyewitness identification, appellant argues that Ruth Robinson's testimony concerning her identification at a show-up of appellant as her assailant was so unreliable that it should have been stricken by the trial court. Specifically, appellant challenges the admissibility of that testimony on the ground that the show-up procedure used by the police was impermissibly suggestive. However, appellant's failure to follow the proper procedures for objecting to admission of the challenged testimony precludes consideration of his assignment of error on appeal.

It is well established that a defendant has a duty to present challenges to the admissibility of evidence before trial when that is possible, and that unless good cause is shown, the failure to assume this obligation constitutes a waiver. See Nardone v. United States, 308 U.S. 338 (1939); Segurola v. United States, 275 U.S. 106 (1927); United States v. Tisdale, 647 F.2d 91 (10th Cir. 1981); People v. Takencareof, 119 Cal. App. 3d 492, 174 Cal. Rptr. 112 (1981). Thus, the proper time to raise objections to the propriety of identification procedures, which a defendant believes affects the admissibility of anticipated identification testimony, is before trial. State v. Allman, 19 Wash. App. 169, 573 P.2d 1329 (1977). Appellant's challenge to the propriety of the

show-up procedure used in this case (i.e., taking the victim, Ms. Robinson, to the Diagnostic Center to have her view appellant and determine whether he was her assailant) should have been presented to the trial court in a pre-trial motion to suppress under Utah Code Ann., § 77-35-12 (1953), as amended. Subsection (b) of that statute provides:

Any defense, objection or request, including request for rulings on the admissibility of evidence, which is capable of determination without the trial on the general issue may be raised prior to trial by written motion. The following shall be raised at least five days prior to trial:

. . .  
(2) Motions concerning the admissibility of evidence.

Subsection (d) further provides:

Failure of the defendant to timely raise defenses or objections or to make requests which must be made prior to trial or at the time set by the court shall constitute waiver thereof, but the court for cause shown may grant relief from such waiver.

Section 77-35-12(b)(2) explicitly states that motions concerning the admissibility of evidence "shall" be raised before trial. The provision is mandatory. Section 77-35-12(d) makes clear that failure to make mandatory pre-trial motions--of which a motion concerning admissibility of evidence is one--results in a waiver, with the proviso that relief from waiver may be granted for cause shown. The obvious intent of this rule is to eliminate the disruptive

effects of objections to the admissibility of evidence during the trial phase by requiring that those objections be presented and ruled upon before trial when possible. The importance of eliminating those disruptive effects was recognized by the United States Supreme Court in Nardone v. United States, supra, at 341-342:

Dispatch in the trial of criminal causes is essential in bringing crime to book. Therefore, timely steps must be taken to secure judicial determination of claims of illegality on the part of agents of the Government in obtaining testimony. To interrupt the course of the trial for such auxiliary inquiries impedes the momentum of the main proceeding and breaks the continuity of the jury's attention.

. . .

The admissibility of Ruth Robinson's identification testimony was capable of determination before trial, and any objections to it should have been timely raised in a pre-trial motion to suppress as required by § 77-35-12(b)(2). Since appellant has not shown cause for his failure to follow the required procedure, under § 77-35-12(d) he has waived the right to complain of any error concerning the admission of Robinson's testimony. Strict adherence to the waiver provisions in subsection (d) is necessary if the obvious purpose of Rule 12 (discussed above) is not to be defeated. The California Supreme Court, for example, has recognized the importance of strictly applying the waiver provisions of a

similar rule contained in that state's code of criminal procedure. See People v. Takencareof, supra, citing People v. Superior Court [Edmonds], 4 Cal. 3d 605, 94 Cal. Rptr. 250, 483 P.2d 1202 (1971).

Furthermore, appellant failed timely to object to Ms. Robinson's testimony at trial. He made no objection to it as it was being given (see T. 9-50). It was not until the day after the testimony was given and after the State had rested its case that appellant made a motion to strike the testimony (see T. 101).

Rule 4, Utah Rules of Evidence, provides:

A verdict or finding shall not be set aside, nor shall the judgment or decision based thereon be reversed, by reason of the erroneous admission of evidence unless (a) there appears of record objection to the evidence timely interposed and so stated as to make clear the specific ground of objection, and (b) the court which passes upon the effect of the error or errors is of the opinion that the admitted evidence should have been excluded on the ground stated and probably had a substantial influence in bringing about the verdict or finding. However, the court in its discretion, and in the interests of justice, may review the erroneous admission of evidence even though the grounds of the objection thereto are not correctly stated.

Recently, in State v. McCardell, Utah, 652 P.2d 942 (1982), this Court made clear what effect a defendant's failure to comply with the "contemporaneous objection" requirements of Rule 4 would have on assignments of error made

on appeal. In holding that McCardell's failure to interpose a timely and specific objection to the admission of several "mug shots" precluded consideration on appeal of his arguments respecting that issue (even though his "arguments on [that] point clearly ha[d] merit," 652 P.2d at 946), the Court said:

We endorse the following statement made by the Kansas Supreme Court in [State v. Moore, 218 Kan. 450, 543 P.2d 923 (1975)]:

"The contemporaneous objection rule long adhered to in this state requires timely and specific objection to admission of evidence in order for the question of admissibility to be considered on appeal. The rule is a salutary procedural tool serving a legitimate state purpose. By making use of the rule, counsel gives the trial court the opportunity to conduct the trial without using the tainted evidence, and thus avoid possible reversal and a new trial. Furthermore, the rule is practically one of necessity if litigation is ever to be brought to an end."

543 P.2d at 927, quoting Baker v. State, 204 Kan. 607, 611, 464 P.2d 212, 216 (1970).

652 P.2d at 947. See also: State v. Smith, 16 Utah 2d 374, 401 P.2d 445 (1965). The same considerations apply here. Thus, appellant's failure to interpose a timely objection, which thereby denied the trial court an opportunity to address his concerns, should have the same consequences such inexcusable procedural default had in State v. McCardell, supra--a refusal by this Court to consider any assignment of error on appeal.

As noted in State v. Pierre, Utah, 572 P.2d 1338 (1977), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 882 (1978),

. . . in order to preserve a question for appellate review on alleged error by the trial court, generally a party must object to improper questions and inadmissible evidence at his earliest opportunity.

Id. at 1353. Clearly, appellant did not object to the challenged testimony at his earliest opportunity. It was three witnesses and a day later that he made his motion to strike. That does not constitute a timely objection. See State v. Sterling, Or. App., 537 P.2d 578, 579 (1975), where the court said that defendant's motion to strike testimony offered a day earlier and received without objection came too late; and Temple v. State, Okl. Cr., 568 P.2d 1321, 1322 (1977), which said that where "defendant's counsel failed to object to the admission of any evidence as it was presented, but instead waited until the State rested its case," that was not a timely objection.

It is generally accepted that denial of a motion to strike certain evidence is proper where the defendant failed to object to the evidence at the time it was offered. See Foss v. State, 92 Nev. 163, 547 P.2d 688 (1976); State v. Lucero, 151 Mont. 531, 455 P.2d 731 (1968). As previously noted, appellant did not object at the time Ms. Robinson's identification testimony was given, although he had ample opportunity to do so. In State v. Nevarez, 108 Ariz. 414, 499

p.2d 709 (1972), the Arizona Supreme Court addressed a situation very similar to that presented in the instant case as follows:

At the time of trial, [the witness] identified the defendant before the jury and there was no objection by defense counsel, and there was no objection interposed when pictures of the defendant were identified by [the witness] and admitted in evidence. It was not until the State's case was completed that defendant raised an objection to the identification of the defendant and asked that [the witness's] testimony be stricken.

. . . Defendant, . . . by failing to object at the time of the identification testimony, lost any right he might have had to have that testimony stricken.

Id. at 711.

The rule followed in State v. Nevarez, supra, Foss v. State, supra, and State v. Lucero, supra, is designed to promote judicial efficiency by requiring timely objections at trial, and is directly applicable in the instant case. Accordingly, the trial court's denial of appellant's motion to strike where appellant failed timely to object to Ms. Robinson's testimony was proper and consistent with State v. McCardell, supra, wherein this Court expressed the importance of strict adherence to Utah's contemporaneous objection rule.

In sum, appellant's failure to comport with the requirements of § 77-35-12 and his additional failure to interpose a timely objection to Ms. Robinson's identification



testimony at trial precludes consideration on appeal of appellant's assignment of error concerning the trial court's denial of his motion to strike that testimony. Accordingly, this Court should not proceed to decide that issue on the merits. As Justice Powell stated in Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501 (1976),

[T]here are two situations in which a conviction should be left standing despite the claimed infringement of a constitutional right. The first situation arises when it can be shown that the substantive right in question was consensually relinquished. The other situation arises when a defendant has made an "inexcusable procedural default" in failing to object at a time when a substantive right could have been protected.

Id. at 513-514 (concurring opinion) (emphasis added).

Even if this Court decides to consider the motion to strike issue, appellant's assignment of error is without merit. The identification procedure employed in appellant's case was not "so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377, 384 (1968). In State v. McCumber, Utah, 622 P.2d 353 (1980), this Court said:

Police identification procedures such as photograph displays, lineups, showups, and the like, do not deny the accused due process of law unless, under a totality of the circumstances, they are so unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to

irreparable mistaken identification as to deny the accused a fair trial. [Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293 (1967).] Where an identification procedure, even though suggestive, does not give rise to a substantial likelihood of misidentification, no due process violation has occurred. [Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972).] In determining the reliability of the identification under the totality of the circumstances, the court must also consider the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness' degree of attention, the accuracy of any prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated during the identification procedure, and the time between the crime and the identification. [Neil v. Biggers, supra; Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98 (1977).]

Id. at 357.

Acknowledging that the victim of an attempted rape and aggravated sexual assault "had a very limited opportunity to observe her assailant" in that "[h]er view of his face was very brief, and occurred in a darkened room immediately after she had been awakened from sleep," the McCumber Court also said:

Such factors, however, although they may weaken the probative impact of the evidence offered, do not mandate suppression of the evidence in the name of due process without some showing that the identification procedures were themselves impermissibly suggestive.

Id. at 357.

Thus, even if, as appellant contends, Ms. Robinson's identification of appellant was weak on two of the five Neil

v. Biggers factors (noted by this Court in the above quote from McCumber), that does not mandate suppression of her testimony--although the probative impact of her testimony admittedly may be weakened.

However, it should be noted that the validity of appellant's allegation that Ms. Robinson's identification of appellant was very weak in two respects is suspect. Appellant contends that Ms. Robinson's prior description of appellant was not particularly accurate and that she was "not at all certain as to her identification, even after she viewed the appellant from a few feet away in a one-on-one show-up" (Appellant's Brief at p. 5).

With respect to the prior description, appellant first asserts that Ms. Robinson was inaccurate in her estimation of appellant's weight; yet no evidence was presented at trial establishing appellant's actual weight or that Robinson's estimate of 250-300 pounds was 100 pounds too heavy. Second, appellant notes that Robinson said her assailant was wearing a red T-shirt and that he wore his hair different than did appellant when viewed at the show-up. These differences do not amount to fatal inaccuracies; they are easily explained: as noted by Ms. Robinson at trial, appellant had changed his shirt and freshly combed his hair between the time of the attempted rape and the subsequent meeting of Robinson and appellant at the Diagnostic Center (see T. 26).

With respect to appellant's assertion that Ms. Robinson was not at all certain as to her identification of appellant, the record simply does not establish that this was so. In fact, the very opposite was true. Ms. Robinson positively identified appellant as her assailant after seeing and hearing him at the Diagnostic Center (see T. 26, 27, 28, 48, 91). Appellant seems to suggest that Ms. Robinson's reliance on appellant's verbalization of the word "lady" in identifying appellant was somehow improper. Initially, it should be noted that appellant used the word "lady" without any prompting from the police or Ms. Robinson (see T. 27, 91). The record further indicates that Robinson's identification was based on both her visual and auditory observations. Reliance on the sound of the voice or the manner in which someone says a particular word as a factor in the identification of an individual is a perfectly proper and often necessary means of making an identification.

In short, appellant has not clearly shown that Ms. Robinson's identification of him was weak on any of the five factors outlined in Neil v. Biggers, supra. As noted earlier, even if it were assumed, arguendo, that the identification was somewhat weak on one or more of those points, that does not mandate suppression of the identification testimony. State v. McCumber, supra.

Finally, appellant argues that the show-up procedure used in his case was improper because it was highly suggestive

and ignored the line-up procedures provided for in Utah Code Ann., §§ 77-8-1 through 4 (1953), as amended. First, because appellant does not point to any specific conduct of the police at the show-up which rendered that procedure impermissibly suggestive, he appears to be suggesting that one-on-one showups are inherently suggestive and therefore violative of due process. However, he cites no authority in support of that proposition. In fact, this Court has repeatedly approved of the show-up as a proper identification procedure which is not impermissibly suggestive. In State v. Clemens, Utah, 580 P.2d 601 (1978), the Court said:

The idea of taking the victim forthwith to identify a suspect is of value to the detained person if he is innocent; and while the matter is fresh in mind, it assists the victim in determining whether a suspect is or is not the perpetrator of the offense. [See State v. Vasquez, 22 Utah 2d 277, 451 P.2d 786 (1969).]

Id. at 602. See also: State v. Allen, 29 Utah 2d 442, 511 P.2d 159 (1973).

Second, appellant's reliance on §§ 77-8-1 through 4 is misplaced. Although those sections of the Code set out certain rules relating to line-ups, they do not prohibit police from conducting show-ups. This was recognized in State v. Allen, supra, at 160. Chapter 8 of Title 77 does not give a suspect the right to a line-up; it simply provides an alternative identification procedure for law enforcement

officers. In short, nothing in Utah's statutory law or case law indicates that police officers are required to use line-ups rather than show-ups, or that they must be confronted with exigent circumstances in order to use the show-up procedure. As noted in State v. Clemens, supra, and State v. Allen, supra, the show-up has distinct advantages which are necessary to continued effective enforcement of the criminal law. Thus, the decision to use the show-up procedure instead of a line-up in the instant case is not a basis for holding that the trial court improperly denied appellant's motion to strike Ms. Robinson's testimony. It should be emphasized that there was nothing in how the show-up was conducted which made it impermissibly suggestive.

In sum, under the totality of the circumstances, the identification procedures employed in this case were not "unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification," State v. McCumber, supra, at 357; and, applying the Neil v. Biggers test, Ms. Robinson's identification testimony was highly reliable.

## POINT II

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT.

In State v. McCardell, Utah, 652 P.2d 942 (1982), this Court set out the standard for reviewing an insufficiency of the evidence claim:

This Court will not lightly overturn the findings of a jury. We must view the evidence properly presented at trial in the light most favorable to the jury's verdict, and will only interfere when the evidence is so lacking and insubstantial that a reasonable man could not possibly have reached a verdict beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Asay, Utah, 631 P.2d 861 (1981); State v. Lamm, Utah, 606 P.2d 229 (1980); State v. Gorlick, Utah, 605 P.2d 761 (1979); State v. Logan, Utah, 563 P.2d 811 (1977). We also view in a light most favorable to the jury's verdict those facts which can be reasonably inferred from the evidence presented to it.

Id. at 945.

Appellant's contention that the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict in his case is based solely on the alleged unreliability of Ms. Robinson's testimony. However, that testimony was hardly unreliable. As conceded by appellant, Ms. Robinson had an excellent opportunity to observe her assailant at close proximity in broad daylight; her degree of attention could only have been very high given the nature of the crime (i.e., an attack on her person); and only a short time had elapsed between the attack and her identification of appellant as her assailant. As respondent showed in Point I, appellant's contentions that Ms. Robinson gave an inconsistent prior description of appellant and that she was uncertain of her identification of him at the show-up lack support in the record.

Moreover, appellant's persistent assertion that eyewitness testimony is inherently unreliable is not a

sufficient basis for overturning his conviction for lack of evidence. He cites no case law to support the position he is quite obviously arguing for--i.e., that the jury cannot reasonably rely on eyewitness identification testimony because it is inherently unreliable. Significantly, this Court implicitly recognized the value of that type of testimony in State v. Clemens, supra, and State v. Allen, supra, and, more recently, in State v. Malmrose, Utah, 649 P.2d 56 (1982), which held that the trial court's denial of expert testimony on the issue of the reliability of eyewitness testimony was not prejudicial error, and that "[o]n the firm identification of the victim alone, it was reasonable for the jury to have found the defendant guilty [of sexually assaulting the victim]." Id. at 62.

Finally, appellant completely ignores the testimony given at trial by Samuel Lee and Carlin Jacobson which identified appellant as Ms. Robinson's assailant. He also does not mention the photographic evidence introduced showing scratches on appellant's chin and chest which Ms. Robinson testified she inflicted on appellant during his attack on her.

In short, the totality of the evidence, taken with the inferences the jury might reasonably draw therefrom, certainly is not so lacking and insubstantial that a reasonable person could not possibly have found appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Ms. Robinson's positive



identification of appellant along with the strong corroborative evidence noted in the preceding paragraph is clearly a greater quantum of evidence than that found sufficient to support a similar conviction in State v. Malmrose, supra. Accordingly, this Court should not interfere with the jury's verdict; appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.